1967

Marie E. Peterson v. Western Casualty and Surety Company : Appellant's Brief

NATURE OF CASE

Plaintiff's Complaint (R. 1-2) sets out two causes of action against the defendant. The first cause of action was in the nature of a garnishment action whereby the plaintiff sought to recover from the defendant the policy amount (\$10,000.00) on the Judgment awarded to the plaintiff in a previous action against the defendant's policyholder, Chuck Shim Lew. The second cause of action was in the nature of a tort action whereby the plaintiff sought to recover from the defendant an additional \$2,500.00 over the policy limits, claiming that the defendant was guilty of bad faith in only offering the sum of \$6,000.00 to settle the plaintiff's claim.

DISPOSITION IN LOWER COURT

On Cross Motions For Summary Judgment made at the time of the pre-trial of this action, the trial court granted plaintiff's Motion as to the first cause of action and dismissed the plaintiff's second cause of action.

RELIEF SOUGHT ON APPEAL

Defendant and appellant seeks a reversal of the summary judgment granted to the plaintiff on her first cause of action and seeks entry of a summary judgment in favor of the defendant and appellant. In the event this court sees fit to affirm the holding of the trial court, defendant and appellant seeks a modification of the judgment entered in favor of the plaintiff and respondent to eliminate or correct the interest awarded to the plaintiff by said judgment.

STATEMENT OF FACTS

The record in this case consists of the pleadings, Motions, Order and Judgment filed in this action, the pleadings, Motions, Orders and Judgments in the action brought by Marie E. Peterson against Chuck Shim Lew, Civil No. 143,286 in the District Court of Salt Lake County and a number of Exhibits, including two depositions (Exhibits D-10 and D-11). The facts, as established by the pleadings and Exhibits contained in the record before this court, are the following:

On February 24, 1963 at approximately 2:23

o'clock A.M. the plaintiff was riding as a guest in a car driven by Dennis H. McMillan, which car collided with a vehicle driven by the defendant's insured, Chuck Shim Lew. The collision occurred in the intersection of 900 East and 2700 South in Salt Lake City, which intersection is protected by a traffic semaphore showing green, yellow and red. The right front portion of McMillan's car collided with the left front door area of Chuck Shim Lew's vehicle (D-11, page 13). McMillan said the light was green in his favor as he approached, but that it turned to amber as he was in the intersection (D-11, page 15). Mr. Lew testified at a subsequent hearing in regard to a citation issued to McMillan that he (Lew) had the green light and that McMillan had gone through a red light (D-11, page 22). No eye witnesses were known (D-10, page 19) except the two drivers and the plaintiff, Marie E. Peterson.

Suit was filed on May 23, 1963 by plaintiff against Chuck Shim Lew. In the Answer to the Complaint filed on his behalf by the insurer, Western Casualty And Surety Company (hereinafter referred to as Western), Chuck Shim Lew denied any negligence or misconduct and alleged as an affirmative defense that plaintiff could not recover against defendant because the negligence of McMillan was the sole proximate cause of the accident and the resulting injuries, if any, which she sustained.

On July 25, 1963 counsel for Western mailed a letter (Ex. D-3) to Lew at his Salt Lake City address of 838 Jefferson Street, notifying him of its entrance into the case and advising him to notify Western or counsel of any change of address he might make since it may be necessary to contact him on short notice. The letter was returned, undelivered.

On August 19, 1963 counsel mailed a request to Western and an independent adjuster for assistance in locating Mr. Lew. Counsel was advised orally that Lew was residing at 301 Boyle Avenue, Los Angeles, California (Ex. D-2, pp 2-3). Pursuant to this information counsel wrote a letter (Ex. D-4) on September 6, 1963 informing Lew that a complaint had been filed against him asking \$32,154.95 in damages. In the letter he was requested to keep counsel advised of his whereabouts, and to inform them of any change of address since it may be necessary to contact him on short notice (Ex. D-5).

Mr. Lew replied by letter on September 19, 1963 in which he said:

“Dear Mr. Hanson,

“I had receive your carbon copy yesterday, and I wish to thank you for notifying me.

“At the present, I am working in Riverside, California. I wish to know if I have to

appear in court with you and the date to appear in court.

"My present address is % Chungking Rest., 3817 Market St., Riverside, California. The telephone number is Ov-6-7292. You could notify me at this address.

"Again, I wish to express my thanks to you.

"Truly Yours,
"Chuck Shim Lew"

In reply to this letter counsel on September 23, 1963 wrote to Mr. Lew:

"We are in receipt of your letter of September 19, 1963. We will advise you when it is necessary for you to appear in court or of any other action which you might be required to take in connection with this case. Kindly keep us advised of your whereabouts so that we might either write you or telephone you on short notice." (Ex. D-6)

This letter was never returned and is thus presumed to have been delivered.

On February 4, 1964 the case was set for trial on March 12, 1964. In a letter dated February 7, 1964 counsel wrote to Lew at the California address given by Lew, advising him of the trial setting and asking that he be in Salt Lake City not later than March 12, 1964. A copy of that letter was sent to Lew's Salt Lake address. The letter sent to California was returned with a notation indicating that Lew no longer lived at that address.

Upon return of that letter counsel once again contacted Western for assistance. Western referred counsel to Mr. Herbert C. Papenfuss, an agent for Monarch Underwriters who had sold Mr. Lew his policy and also loaned him money. Counsel was informed that Mr. Papenfuss had made an investigation by going to California in October of 1963 to try to locate this defendant. He interviewed various people in several restaurants, by whom he was informed that Lew had left California and had probably gone to Vancouver, Canada. He learned nothing more until January, 1964 when he received a remittance from Lew who gave his address as Club 13 Cafe, Bienfait, Saskatchewan, Canada. He telephoned the Club 13, but was told that Lew had left and might be in Florida, either in Miami or Miami Beach.

Upon the basis of the information received from Papenfuss counsel moved the court on March 4, 1964 for a continuance of the trial of the action brought by Marie E. Peterson against Chuck Shim Lew in order that additional efforts could be made to locate Lew in Florida. The motion was resisted by the plaintiff, Marie E. Peterson, and was heard and denied on March 6, 1964. On that same day counsel filed an Offer Of Judgment for \$6,000.00, the amount he had previously offered plaintiff's counsel verbally, pursuant to Rule 68 of the Utah Rules of Civil Procedure. He also mailed a letter (Ex. D-8) to Lew notifying him of counsel's with-

drawal and the denial of coverage due to his non-cooperation. Copies of that letter were sent to Lew's former address in Salt Lake City; Riverside, California; and Bienfait, Saskatchewan. All were returned, undelivered. On March 10, 1964 counsel filed Notice of Withdrawal and Notice To Appoint Other Counsel (Ex. D-9) and copies of these were mailed to the above mentioned addresses. Again they were returned, undelivered.

The case proceeded to trial with the plaintiff recovering a default Judgment against Chuck Shim Lew for \$12,500.00.

On March 4, 1965 the present action was instituted against Western. Plaintiff alleged two causes of action. In the first cause of action she sought to recover the \$10,000.00 policy limits. In the second she prayed for \$2,500.00 on the ground that Western acted in bad faith in not settling the action within the policy limits (R. 1-4).

The cause came up for pre-trial and the hearing of Motions by both parties for summary judgment before the Honorable Stewart M. Hanson on October 7, 1965 (R. 40). The defendant, Western, in support of its Motion For Summary Judgment offered in evidence the insurance contract (Ex. D-1), the transcript of the proceedings for a continuance of the trial in the prior case (Ex. D-2), the letters sent to Lew and the letter received from Lew (Exs. D 3-8), the depositions of Marie E.

Peterson and Dennis McMillan (Exs. D 10-11) and the file of the prior action against Chuck Shim Lew.

In support of her Motion For Summary Judgment, the plaintiff offered no evidence or affidavits, but stood upon the pleadings.

On December 9, 1965 the court granted the plaintiff's Motion For Summary Judgment as to the first cause of action and dismissed the second cause of action. In its Memorandum Decision the court stated (R. 52) :

“In so finding the Court is of the opinion that this is even a more flagrant case of using a reasonable effort by the insurance company than that found in 5 Utah 2d. at Page 15. It appears that the defendant has agents in various parts of the country who were able at least to determine the addresses of the insured, and they apparently left the matter of attempting to find the insured entirely to the Utah attorneys, which does not appear, to this Court, to be a reasonable effort.”

The court did not enumerate the reasons for its decision dismissing the second cause of action, the action praying for \$2,500.00 because of the alleged bad faith of the defendant, Western. We assume it was in response to the Motion of counsel for defendant made at the time of the pre-trial in the following words:

“. . . I include in this motion all the grounds stated in the motion for summary judgment, and now as a basis for the grounds

stated in the motion for summary judgment the stipulations, the exhibits and the depositions and the record of the prior case. In addition thereto I move specifically for a dismissal of the second cause of action, asking for a judgment in excess of policy limits of \$2,500.00, on the grounds that the Utah Supreme Court has specifically held in one case that a motion to recover an excess over the insurance policy cannot be joined with a garnishment action against the insurance company to recover the amount of a judgment recovered against the insured." (R. 49)

The case which counsel had in mind was *Paul v. Kirkendall*, 6 Utah (2d) 256, 311 Pac. (2d) 376, in which it was held that a judgment debtor's tort claim against the garnishee cannot be adjudicated in garnishment proceedings brought by the judgment holder.

ARGUMENT

POINT I.

THE TRIAL COURT ERRED IN NOT FINDING AS A MATTER OF LAW THAT THE DEFENSE OF NON-COOPERATION HAD BEEN ESTABLISHED AND THAT THE DEFENDANT WAS ENTITLED THEREFORE TO A SUMMARY JUDGMENT.

The paramount issue in this case is whether the record supports the actions of the trial court in denying defendant's Motion For Summary Judgment and in granting plaintiff's Motion. It is the appellant's contention here that the facts within the record clearly shows: The insured acted wilfully and unreasonably in secreting himself by not

providing forwarding addresses and other essential information which the insurer had requested from him in order that he could be contacted for assistance in the preparation and trial of the action; that the insurer, Western, was diligent in its search for Lew; and that the absence of the insured, he being the sole witness capable of establishing the defendant's affirmative defense, was prima facie prejudicial to the insurer in its defense of the action against the insured.

This court has on two prior occasions dealt with non-cooperation cases. However, the situations in those two cases are readily distinguished from the present case.

In *Oberhansley v. Traveler's Insurance Company*, 5 Utah (2d) 15, 295 Pac. (2d) 1093 (1956) the court affirmed a trial court's verdict for the plaintiff. The basis for the court's decision was the fact that the insured had not hidden himself from the insurer, but had notified the insurer well in advance of the trial that he would not attend due to the danger of losing his newly acquired employment and a prospective promotion. The issue there was resolved in favor of the plaintiff on the ground that the insurer knew where the insured was, knew he was not coming to the trial and failed to preserve his testimony by taking his deposition. The court there was not concerned with the reasonableness of the insurer's efforts to find the insured, since the whereabouts of the insured was known.

Instead, the court held that the insured had a justifiable excuse for not attending the trial, and that the insurance company could not claim to have been prejudiced by his absence since the company failed to take reasonable efforts to preserve his testimony after learning that he would not be at the trial. The issue in the present case is whether the defendant made diligent efforts to locate the insured — an issue not before the court in *Oberhansley v. Traveler's*, *supra*.

In the recent case of *Montgomery v. Preferred Risk Mutual Insurance Company*, Docket No. 10,278, the court was once again faced with the question of whether the insurer could establish prejudice by the insured's non-attendance at the trial. The court held that the insurer could have used the deposition taken previously by the plaintiff and that insurer was, therefore, not prejudiced in the defense. The court also said that had the insured's presence been necessary the insurer did not act diligently in locating him, as indicated by the fact that the first letter tracing the deposition (which had never been returned by the insured) was mailed five years after the accident. The court also noted that the insured had a criminal charge pending against him, was unemployed and had recently been divorced, all of which should have put insurer on notice that the insured might not be present at the trial. However, the apparent concern of the court was over the failure to get the deposition of the insured while

he was still available — and not whether the search for him after he became unavailable was sufficient. The facts of that case present a situation where the insurer failed on all three requirements of the defense, i.e. to show that it was prejudiced by the non-attendance, that it had acted diligently to overcome the prejudice and that it had made a diligent effort to locate the insured.

The case at bar presents only one of these three issues — whether diligent efforts to find the insured were made by the insurer. This was pointed out by the trial court in its Memorandum Decision in which it concludes that the insurer was not reasonably diligent in its efforts to locate the insured. The trial court apparently did not take issue with the fact that the non-attendance of the insured worked a prejudice to the insurer's case and that the failure of the insurer to take the insured's deposition was reasonable up until the time it was informed by the return of the February 7, 1964 letter that Lew had moved without leaving a forwarding address and without notifying Western as he had agreed to do.

There can be no serious dispute as to the prejudicial effect of Lew's absence at the trial. He was the only one who could testify in support of the affirmative defense. The deposition of Dennis McMillan indicates that Lew's testimony in the citation hearing was that McMillan had run the red light and that Lew had the green light. It is obvious

that the issue of liability in that case hinged upon the sole question of who had the right of way in the intersection at the time of the accident, to which issue Lew's testimony was essential. His disappearance left Western without a defendant and without a defense.

There also is no serious dispute as to whether Western acted reasonably up to the time that notice was received of Lew's disappearance. The letter which Western received from Lew on September 19, 1963 is self evidence of the assurance given by Lew that he would be available for trial. Had he stated that he could not attend the trial here in Utah or had he in some other manner cast doubt upon his attendance the situation here would be different, thus similar to the *Oberhansley* situation. But, instead, he indicated interest in the case and the tenor of his letter pledges cooperation in the disposition of the action.

It should not be forgotten that the primary duty in such situation is on the insured, for he is under a contractual duty to make himself available for the trial. In the *Oberhansley* case the court recognized that an unreasonable failure by the witness-insured, if material, to attend the trial is a breach of the cooperation clause of the liability policy. Thus, in any consideration of whether the non-cooperation defense has been established the essential factor is whether there is any evidence indicating that the insured's failure to attend was excused or justifiable.

There was such evidence in the *Oberhansley* case, but none in the present case.

In many states the absence from trial is all that is required to sustain the non-cooperation defense. See *60 A.L.R. (2d) 1050*. It is apparent, however, that in Utah to enforce that duty the insurer must also act reasonably in obtaining the insured's cooperation — but that is not to say that the insurer need go to the expense of getting depositions from its insureds who are informed of their duty and who express willingness to perform it. It would be grossly unfair and contrary to the parties own contract to impress upon the insurer the duty to act as a nursemaid to its insureds who from all appearances are willing to cooperate in the defense and appear at the trial. It was the recognition of this rule by the trial court in the original case which made it necessary for Western to withdraw from the defense of that action. Western moved for a continuance when it learned that Lew had left Bienfait, Canada without leaving a forwarding address, so that it might continue its efforts to locate Lew in Florida. The court denied the Motion, and in doing so made the following observation:

“Well, I will show that by saying that when a witness is playing hard to get and trying to hide from you, I am more inclined to help you find him; but where a party himself gives the runaround to counsel that this defendant has seemed to give, I don't feel quite so sympathetic towards him. I think he

owes a duty to the court to be ready when the court is ready for trial, and I believe he's had *ample notice* and ample opportunity to be found if he wanted to be found, so the motion will be denied." (Ex. D-2, p. 5)

It is clearly indisputable that the defendant did all that could be reasonably expected up to the time of notice that Lew had left his California address. It is further the contention of the defendant that as a matter of law Western acted with reasonable diligence in trying to locate the insured from February 4th until the time of withdrawal on March 7th. This is not a situation as in the *Montgomery* case, where there was a three year period of disappearance and only feeble if not non-existent attempts to locate the insured by a letter seeking to get the deposition back. In the present case Western had notice on February 7, 1964 that the insured had left California without giving forwarding information to the insurer. During the next month registered letters were sent to all known addresses and information was sought from other sources such as the agent who sold the insurance policy. He reported a personal investigation in California which showed that Lew had left California for Canada or Washington. He had also received correspondence from Lew at the Bienfait, Saskatchewan address, but when he telephoned the address he was told that Lew was probably somewhere in Florida. Upon receipt of this information Western moved for a continuance in order to make an investigation in

Florida, but the motion was denied. Western had less than a month to locate Lew, who was "probably in Florida somewhere". Within that short period Western did all that could be reasonably expected under the circumstances.

It is unrealistic, if not impossible, to set up a pervasive rule as to what efforts should be taken by an insurance company in all situations of lost insureds. There are several things an insurance company could possibly do to locate the insured, given time, but the law only requires reasonable diligence under the particular circumstances. If this were not so the cooperation clause of the policy would be nullified and the insurer would often find itself defending cases without the essential testimony of the insured, as in the present case. The insurance contract involved here makes compliance with the cooperation clause a condition precedent to coverage, not merely a covenant to cooperate.

"Conditions

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