1967

## Marie E. Peterson v. Western Casualty and Surety Company : Respondent's Brief

#### STATEMENT OF THE NATURE OF THE CASE

Respondent, plaintiff in the lower court, brought an action against the defendant, appellant herein, as the insurer of one Chuck Shim Lew, to recover the benefits of Lew's automobile insurance policy and have the policy proceeds paid over to respondent towards satisfying a monetary judgment obtained against the insured in another civil action.

## DISPOSITION OF THE LOWER COURT

Respondent and appellant each filed motions for summary judgment, which motions were heard at the pretrial. Respondent was granted a summary judgment against appellant for the sum of \$10,000.00 on her first cause of action, and respondent's second cause of action was dismissed.

## RELIEF SOUGHT ON APPEAL

Respondent seeks to have the court affirm the judgment of the pretrial court against appellant.

## STATEMENT OF FACTS

The instant appeal from the lower court arises out of a judgment rendered on behalf of respondent against one Chuck Shim Lew, Civil No. 143286, as filed in the District Court of Salt Lake County (Supplemental transcript). That case was based upon an automobile accident occurring while respondent was a guest passenger in a northbound vehicle on Ninth East when her vehicle collided with the insured's vehicle traveling west on 27th South in Salt Lake City, Utah in the morning hours of February 24, 1963. A dispute existed between respondent's driver and Lew as to which vehicle was favored with the "right of way" because of the traffic semaphore.

Respondent's host driver, Dennis McMillan, submitted to a deposition at the request of appellant's counsel on August 9, 1963, the deposition being re-

ceived in evidence by the lower court in this case as Exhibit D-11. In that deposition, McMillan testified the light was green when the vehicle he was driving entered the intersection, and while in the intersection he observed the green light change to amber from the reflection of the light on the hood of his vehicle (D-11, page 16). A contrary statement of purported fact found at page 3 of appellant's brief is not borne out by the record in this case. It concerns the nature of the proceedings in which Lew supposedly testified he had the green light and respondent's driver had the red light at the time of each vehicle entering the intersection, as on page 22 of Exhibit D-11, the deposition indicates appellant's insured "in another trial proceeding" testified McMillan went through a red light without reference to the civil or criminal aspects involved. It is conceded that no other eye witnesses are known except respondent who also testified in her deposition that the light was green at the time the vehicle in which she was a passenger entered the intersection (Exhibit D-10, page 16).

A civil action was commanded on May 23, 1963, in which respondent was the plaintiff and appellant's insured was the defendant. Personal service was had over Lew on May 24, 1963, and the usual insurance company answer was filed June 11, 1963, together with a notice of taking of respondent's deposition received as Exhibit D-10, after which the host driver's deposition was taken (Exhibit D-11).

In the interim appellant's counsel wrote its insured (Exhibit D-3) advising him of their appearance into the case, which letter was returned. This letter was written to the insured at 525 Jefferson Street, Salt Lake City, Utah, and not to the address of the insured on the policy (Exhibit D-1) which was 321 First Avenue, Salt Lake City, Utah. According to appellant's counsel on receiving back Exhibit D-3, he sought the service of an independent insurance adjuster, who obtained an address of Lew in California. On September 6, 1963, Exhibit D-4 a letter was written, addressed to 833 Jefferson Street, Salt Lake City, Utah, with a carbon copy to 301 Boyle Avenue, Los Angeles, California. This letter was essentially the same as the Exhibit D-3, with the exception of an additional statement which reads, "We are sending the original of this letter to 838 Jefferson Street, Salt Lake City, Utah, and a carbon copy of the letter to 301 Boyle Avenue, in Los Angeles, *in the hope* that either the original or the copy will reach you." (Emphasis ours)

Apparently in response to the carbon copy of the letter, a hand printed reply was received by appellant's counsel bearing the signature of a Chuck Shim Lew and advising appellant's counsel of a new address, to wit, Chung King Restaurant, 3817 Market Street, Riverside, California, and a telephone number of OV-6-7292; which letter specifically stated: "I wish to know if I have to appear in court with you and the date to appear in court." In response to this, appellant's counsel wrote Exhibit D-6 to the Market Street address merely in-

forming Lew that he would be advised when it would be necessary for him to appear in court.

A notice of readiness for trial was filed September 24, 1963.

In mid October 1963, Mr. Herbert C. Papenfuss, Lew's agent at Western, went to California and while there attempted to contact Lew, only to find that he had left California and had probably gone to Vancouver.

Notwithstanding actual knowledge to appellant of Lew's unknown whereabouts, the record is void of any attempt to contact Lew or verify his whereabouts until after the pretrial which was held February 4, 1964, which resulted in the writing of Exhibit D-7 directed to Lew in care of Chung King Restaurant, 3817 Market Street, Riverside, California, (which letter was returned), with a carbon copy to Lew, at 838 Jefferson Street, Salt Lake City, Utah, (which letter was not returned.)

Prior to this Mr. Papenfuss had received a remittance from Lew giving a return address of a certain restaurant in Bienfait, Saskatchewan, Canada, (Exhibit D-2, page 4).

The record next indicates a telephone attempt to locate Lew at the Club 13, in Saskatchewan, and it was discovered that he was no longer there, but was probably in Miami or in Miami Beach, Florida, (Exhibit D-2, page 4). Even with this knowledge, Exhibit D-8, on March 6, 1964, was written to Lew at the Chung King Restaurant address in California; a carbon copy to Lew at the



Club 13, address in Saskatchewan, Canada, and a carbon copy to Lew at 838 Jefferson Street, Salt Lake City, Utah, advising Lew of the March 12th trial date, all of which were returned. Subsequently on March 10, 1964, a formal notice of withdrawal of counsel and notice to appoint counsel was mailed to Lew at the same addresses, but once again the Salt Lake letter was not returned. (T-44)

The matter came on for default trial on March 12, and the trial was continued to March 25, 1964, out of which a judgment was rendered on behalf of respondent against Lew for the sum of \$12,500.00, from which judgment the action against appellant arises.

At the time of pretrial in the instant appeal, judgment was rendered on behalf of respondent on her first cause of action for the sum of \$10,000.00, being the policy limits. Judgment was rendered for appellant on the second cause of action being a claim against Western Casualty and Surety Company for bargaining in bad faith, which claim was for the sum of \$2500.00, the excess amount of the judgment. This portion of Judge Hanson's ruling is not on appeal. A judgment for interest on the entire \$12,500.00 was also granted to respondent.

#### POINT I

THE LOWER COURT DID NOT ERR IN GRANTING  
THE SUMMARY JUDGMENT TO RESPONDENT  
AFTER VIEWING THE FACTS MOST FAVORABLE  
TO APPELLANT.

The principal question in this appeal is very closely related to a question which has come before this court twice previously:

*Oberhansley v. Travelers Insurance Co.*, 5 Utah 2d 15, 295 P2d 1093, and *Montgomery v. Preferred Risk Mutual Insurance Co.*, ..... Utah 2d ....., 411 P2d 488. In the latter case, this court set forth the following test, when it stated:

"In order for an insurance company to invoke non-cooperation clause in its contract, and avoid meeting its obligation on that ground, it must show that it used reasonable diligence in obtaining the cooperation, that the insured failed, and that put it (the company) to some disadvantage."

Therefore, the main issue in this brief is Judge Hanson's conclusion covering the lack of Western's reasonable diligence in seeking the cooperation of its insured, Chuck Shim Lew, since according to the Montgomery case, the other two aspects of the test do not even come into play until the company has used reasonable diligence.

It is interesting to note that each of the two foregoing Utah decisions have relied upon the California case of *Jensen v. Eureka Casualty Company, et al.*, 1935, 52 P 2d 541, the facts of which involved an insured who was a traveling salesman. Process had been served upon him, which he delivered to the insurance adjuster, and notified the adjuster where he could be reached in the event of trial. The insurance representative attempted to locate its insured at trial time and was unable to do so.

On appeal in the direct action against the company, the California court concluded that the insured had not sufficiently been advised as to his obligation and the need for further cooperation at a time when he could have been more available for any requested assistance. Analogous and in accordance with respondent's position is *State Farm Mutual Insurance Company v. Farmers Insurance Exchange*, Oregon 1963, 387 P2d 825. Upon being sued, the insured was slow in turning over suit papers to his company. Letters were mailed from the company to the insured requesting cooperation and also acknowledgments of the letters. No acknowledgments were ever forwarded. The insured was requested to attend trial and an offer to pay expenses was of record but no acknowledgement ever came from the insured. The Oregon court in concluding that due diligence had not been exercised stated on page 830:

“It (the company) should not have been surprised when he did not appear at the trial in response to the January letter requesting him to appear.”

Further on page 830, the court observed the personal advantage that an insurance company could obtain for itself if permitted to exercise less than reasonable diligence in obtaining the assistance of its insured and stated:

“When the insured's cooperation was not to the insurer's benefit, it relied upon letters, not to personal contact. It should not be assumed that in every case, personal contact is essential to an

exercise of due diligence. However, in this case, under all circumstances the absence of an attempt to have a representative of the insurer personally attempt to secure the insured's presence at trial, is damaging to the defendant's defense."

On a rehearing of the above case, the Oregon court in 393 P2d 768, 1964, at page 769, stated in discussing its previous holding:

"We held that the insurer does not prove the exercise of due diligence simply by showing that one or more letters were directed to the insured requesting his attendance at trial. We believe that the insured received the written request (as we must in this case because of the presumption created by ORS 41.360 (24)). His failure to appear may still not constitute a breach of the cooperation clause of the policy under some circumstances. Thus it may be that after the insured received the request, he died or was incapacitated or could not attend without undue hardship. The cases generally support the view that the cooperation clause is not breached if the insured's failure to attend is not willful. In some cases, perhaps the majority, require the insurer to show prejudice to its position. We do not decide whether these latter cases are sound. In the present case, there is no evidence explaining why the insured did not appear. For the reasons expressed in our original opinion, we believe that the insurer should have the burden of showing the insured's failure to appear was in fact due to his noncooperation."

(The Oregon statute cited is merely a codification of the Connor Law rule presuming mailed and unreturned letters are received).

Another analogous case to the instant appeal is *Penhams v. Associated Indemnity Corporation* (Cal. 1935) 47 P2d 791, wherein the insured moved to Los Angeles from San Francisco. Several letters were mailed to him with no acknowledgment, except in one instance, where the insured wrote back, "Please advise as to the outcome of the trial?". Then it appeared as if the insured had vanished. About three months before trial, the company hired private investigators to attempt to locate him, which efforts were to no avail.

The court in sustaining the judgment against insurance company noted that the company previously to its being unable to locate their insured had, or should have had, adequate time to gain his cooperation in preparing their defense if they had so desired.

On page 794, the California court stated:

"It made no request whatever upon him during that time except to keep it informed of his whereabouts.

"It is clear therefore that King (the insured) committed no breach of the policy up to December 12, 1930, the time he left Los Angeles without notifying appellant as to his future whereabouts, and the issue narrows down to the single question of whether under the circumstances above stated his failure to attend the trial constituted a breach of a material provision of the policy, the effect of which was prejudicial to appellant."

In the instant appeal, Exhibit D-5 is the appellant's hand printed letter from Lew inquiring of appellant's

counsel if it would be necessary for him to appear at trial, to which inquiry the reply letter (Exhibit D-6) merely states:

"We will advise you when it is necessary for you to appear in court or of any other action which you might be required to take in connection with this case.

with no specific reply to Lew's request until February, 1964, (Exhibit D-7).

Other cases discussing the question of reasonableness of efforts to obtain the assistance of their insured are *Johnson v. Doughty* (Oregon 1963) 385 P2d 760, in which the court states at pages 762 and 763:

"The evidence proved that the insurer did not make a reasonable effort to locate Doughty. The only letter sent to Doughty was directed to an address *known* to be incorrect at a time when the insurer had reason to know of a better address. The evidence creates a strong inference that the insurer did not want to locate Doughty under the circumstances of the case. Under such circumstances the mere fact that Doughty disappeared is insufficient to show lack of cooperation." (Relying on *Pennsylvania Thresherman and Farmers Mutual Casualty Insurance Company v. Owens*, 238 Fed. 2d 549 Fourth Circuit 1956) (Emphasis ours).

Another is *Pennsylvania Thresherman and Farmer's Mutual Casualty Company v. Owens* (Fourth Circuit) (South Carolina 1956), 238 Fed 2d 549, where the Federal court at page 550 stated:

“The problem of noncooperation has a dual aspect:

Not only what the assured failed to do but what the insurer on its part did to secure the cooperation from an apathetic inattentive or vanishing policy holder must be considered. Liability insurance is intended not only to indemnify the assured but also to protect the members of the public who may be injured through negligence. Indeed such insurance is made mandatory in many states. It would greatly weaken the practical usefulness of policies designed to afford public protection, if it were enough to show mere disappearance of the assured without full proof of proper efforts by the insurer to locate him.” (Citing *Tudor v Commonwealth Casualty Company* 163 At. 27, 10 NJ Misc. 1206)

Further on page 551, the court stated:

“We might add that the circumstances afford no hint to explain Wood’s disappearance. There is no suggestion of domestic discord; any effort to escape criminal prosecution or other reason to abscond. From all that the record shows, he may have been the victim of foul play or disability operate was willful. There was no evidence of any inquiries other than from the wife and the pastor. No inquiries were made from the police or Wood’s place of employment, where his employer or fellow workers might possibly have given a clue to his whereabouts or at the post office to learn if he had left a forwarding address. Requiring such additional efforts would not seem to impose an un-in which it could not be said that failure to co-reasonable burden.”

Six of the eight cases discussed at length in appellant's brief can be differentiated from the fact situation on appeal and from the cases hereinbefore cited in this brief:

A. *Pawlik v. State Farm Mutual Automobile Insurance Co.*, 302 Fed. 2d 255 (CA 7th 1962) was concerned with discussion of a fact situation where the insured *willfully* failed to appear after receiving *actual notice* of trial date;

B. *Rohlf v. Great American Mutual Indemnity*, 161 NE 232, 27 Ohio App. 208 (1927) involved *collusion* by the insured and the injured;

C. *Cooper v. Employer's Mutual Liability Insurance Company of Wisconsin*, 103 SE 2d 210, 199 Va 908 (1958) and *Grady v. State Farm Mutual Auto Insurance Company*, 264 Fed 2d 519 (CA 4th 1959) are decided under a unique Virginia rule of law where failure to attend the trial in and of itself is lack of cooperation sufficient to absolve a company from liability.

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